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PREFACE.

s

Tar appearance of this book is due to the sugges-
tion of some friends who were kind enough to think,
and had influence enough to make me believe, that the
letters I had written to the Madras Hinduin my capacity
of its Hyderabad Correspondent during 1890 and 1891
deserved to be rescued from the oblivion that is the fate
of newspaper contributions geuerally. When this fact
has been stated, there is little, I think, that remains to
be added by way of bespeaking the indulgence of the
reader for any blemishes in the manner in which facts
are put forth, popular feeling is portrayed and honest
comments are fearlessly made in the following pages.

I have omitted a few paragraphs that could be of
momentary interest and importance only, and corrected
a few insignificant errors here and there. In all other
respects the letters appear in this volume exactly as
they did in the columns of the Madras Hindu.

The Hyderabad Correspondent.

Lst November 1892,



AN INTERVIEW WITH THE NAWAB MUSHTAK
HUSAIN INTESAR JUNG BAHADUR.

I was recently in Hyderabad. I found that the unpopularity
of the men in power had not, during my absence of about three
months from the place, lessened a,whit—but on the other hand
it had considerably increased. Almost every man of intelligence
that I came across, had something or other to say against the
policy of the Government—condemned, in no measured terms,
the influences at work, the manner in which this Rajah’s claims
bad been shelved and that Jagheerdhar sent to rack and ruin,
this honest Hindu official had been brought into trouble and that
Moslem immigrant had been pitchforked intoa high position and
so on, and so on. And I was naturally curious to know what
the powers-that-be had to say in their own behalves. So, according
to an appointment previously arranged for, I repaired on Sunday
last at 11 A, M., to the residence of the Nawab Mushtak Husain
Intesar Jung Bahadur-——Revonne Secretary to the Nizam’s
Government and chief of the party in the ascendant, or the
Minister de facto s lie is knowo among most people in
Hyderabad—and presented my card. Ushered into a hall fur-
nished in perfect Moglai style, a relative of the Nawab’s informed
me that the “ Maulvie Shaib ’’ had been suddenly summoned by
the “ Nawab Salib” (i. e. the Minister) and he had sent a
telephonic message a few minntes previously to the effect that
he would be back “ presently ”’ to see me. I took a seat and
waited. About 16 mimntes afterwards a carriage drove in—and
almost immediately I found myself in the presence of a man of
medium height sad middle age, bearded rather luxuriantly, in
the typical Hyderabadee costume; and he was no other than the
Nawab Intesar Jung Babhadur. He advanced and shook hands
with me, and taking a seat closeby, launched into apologies for



being unpunctual, Acknowledging his great consideration for
e in the usual oriental terms, I proceeded to business. What
transpired, 1 shall note down below pro bono publizo.-

¢ Lave heard a good deal ” 1 began, ““ about men in power
here aud their measures, and 1 am here to find out, if possible,
‘from yon how far what 1 have heard is true.”

“ 1 am thankful to you” he replied, < for taking tho trouble
of coming all the way here to find out ihe truth. I shall be
glad to answer, as well as 1 could, uny questions you may wish
to put me.”

“ There is an impression abroad that the Adminisiration is
individually, as well as in a body, opposed to the Hindu iuterests.
Has this iinpression any foundation in fact?”

“ No. As for myself, I havo always fuvoured the Hindus,
(And poiuting out to me w paragraph in the report submntted by
hiwm, to the late Nawab Muneer-ul-Mulk Babadur, as Subedhar of
the Bastern Division, in which geference 1s made to the placiug
of the templs of Jeedkul on u footing of cquality with Mahomedan
shrives iu respect of Governwent grant, he continued.) This
paragraph will show you whether I wm opposed to the Hindu
interests or vot.”’

“ This pragraph ” I putin, “shows you favoured the Hindus
aboul 3 yours ago, that is, when you had no power ; and it does
not give onc an 1dea as to whether now that you are in power,
yeu continue to be what you were then.”

“ Since coming into power 1 have been instrumental in the
Government granting inam lands to many Hindus in the District.
And the charge of antagonism to Hiudus as applied to the
Government is groundless, inasionch as only recently a Hindu
has been made a Judge of the Small Causes Court and another
Hindu promoted to be Assistant Judicial Commissioner of a
whole District.”
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* You have mentioned only two instances” 1T said, “in
which Hindus have come into prominence. Bat I conld men tion
several instances of noble and time-honoured Hindu families
reduced to a pitiable state under the present regime. The Chandu
Lal family is nowhere in the State now—the living representa-
tive of it, Rajah Kishen Pershad, has not even the wherewithal:
to live up to his social position. The Rajah of Anagondy is-
only & Rajah in name. Rajah Rai Rayan is a beggar now com-
pared with what he-was.”

“ Raja Kishen Pershad ”” the Nawaly Intesar Jung replied,
“ oould have no reasonablo complaints to prefer against those in
power, The Peishkarship has been a sinecure for the last 35
years—ever since Secretaryships were created by the first Salar
Jang. Anud if Sir Asmanjah tries to reduce the emoluments of
the sinecure, is he to be blumed ? Is it not the object, nay the
bounden duty, of all enlightened Governments to reduce useless
expenditure as far as possible? Had the reins of Government
been in the hands of a modern graduate or a man like Sir T.
Madhava Rao instead of in the hands of a noblemen of Sir
Asmanjah’s stamp, the Peishkarship would have gone clean out
of existence long since. Sir Asmanjuh is blamed for doing
what anybody else in his posiiion would consider an act of
extreme kindness or consideration.”

“ What has the Minister to do with the Peishkar ? 'Che
Peishkar has ever been independent of, and not inferior to, the
‘minister—is it not 7’

“No” replied the Nawab; ¢ the office of Peishkar has always
been subordinate to that of minister.””

1 have read sombwhore that the way in which Nasir-ud-
Dowlah, the grandfather of the present Nizam, installed Rajah
Narender Pershad and Sir Salar Jung I in the offices of Peish-
kar and Minister, at the Durbar held on the 31st May 1853,
attests to the equality of the two positions. Nasir-ud-Dowlah,
it is said, boak the turban and jewels pertaining to either of the
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offices in each hand and decorated therewith Raja Narendsr and
Salar Jung respectively at one and the same $ime.”

* This is not true” replied the Nawab. ~““The very fact
of the Peishkar having always given nuwsur to the Minister
clearly shows that the Peishkar has ever been under the Minister
and not equal to or independent of him. Now about the Rajah
of Anagondy: He owes all that he has to Sir Asmanjah., A little
before Sir Asmanjah became Prime Minister, Mr. Dunlop, at
the head of a Committee appointed to ihquire into the Raja’s
affairs, had decided that his estate should be confiscated. This
decision would have been carried into effect-if only Sir Asmanjah
had taken charge of the administration a month Ilater than he
did. Sir Asmanjah showed respect to what the Rajah of
Anagendy at one time was, when he used his influence and
prevented the above decision from being carried out. So then,
you see the Rajah is under obligations to the Minister and has
no grounds for any legitimate complaint against him.,

“So then, you think” I asked, ‘“that if these people have
suffered they have suffered but rightly 2

“All that T can say is that the Government’s action with
regard to these, has been suggested not by any ill-will but by
considerations of expediency.”

“ While bolding office in the Aurangabad District, some
years ago” I said, “you wrote to the Government to say that
these were among the few families in the State which represented
oases in a vast waste, and as such they must be “kept up’’ at
any cost. Now that you are in power, you look on unconcerned
while they are drifting downwards to ohbscurity if not to runin,
How is this ?”

After some hesitation the Nawab said, ¢ 7%en | could ex-
press my personal views freely., Now that [ amx confideniial
Secretary to the Government, I comd not do -o. People would
do well to recognise where power is centered. It ismo use
allowing false notions of digaity end thoughts of a power and a.
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glory that were, to come in theﬁg?g,y of our abiding by its.pm—
dentmi decisions ; we should only be the losers for so.doing.”

s e e S g A

It is said und believd ” I said,  that Sir Asmanjah does
nothing by himself, thal he is sclely led by you in every#
matter—that you are the winister de facto. Is this true? ”

“ It must be admitted that Sir Asmanjah is not a graduate"-
of a University, And it is fortunate that he is not a graduate—|
otherwise there would have been a sweeping off of all traditions|
and old associations and families, Sir Asmanjah is where he
is, not-so much by right of his intelligence and education as byi
that of being one of the leading noblemen in the State.
such, one cannot expect him to understand, judge and decide
everything by himself—and he must needs trust somebody
under him, ”

+ 18 it true,” I asked then, * that a committee has been
appointed to find out whether, from a religious point-of view,
it is advisable for the Government to send Hindn students to
England for being educated there ? ** '

“ Yes. In accordance with a resolution of the Govern-
ment published in the Jurcedz (Government Gazette) a
committee has been appointed of Raja Shivaraj Bahadur, Bansi
Raja, Motilal, Desikachari and others-—to find out whether the
rules and codes that guide the Hindu Society, allow of Hindus
going to England, ”’

$'I'he Government,” I said, *“ has been unfortunate in the
men it has selected to be its advisers on this important subject.
In the first place, the men you have just now named, are not by
education, or association fit to undertake the consideration of
the subject of Sea-voyage. In the second place, they are mén
known. to entertain views adverze to Hindus goiug to England,
So then, does not the appointment of these men on the Committee
amount to taking away with the one hand what has been given
with the other—nullifying the promises held out by the notifi-
cation in the Jaresda ? >’
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#¢The ‘Nawab [mad-ud-Dowlah, Mr. Hodson and myself
where on the Committee appointed to select mambers for the
Hindu Committee. After a deal of discussion we chose Rajah
Shiva Raj and others as beiug men in whom the Hindu commu-
nity has confidence.”

“ You have not made a happy selection.” said I. * These
are men whose opinions or decisions on social and religious
matters few Hindus would care to accept or be guided by. I say
this—after having sounded many’ intelligent amd educated
Hindus on the point. ”

“If you will give me the names of some of those, who,
you think, are worthy of being on the Committee, T shall feel
very much obliged to yon,” said the Nawab,

“ T shull send you a list of the names of the men whom the
Government might profitably cousult with regard to the
matter.”

The Nawab then assared me: “ The decisions of the Com-
mittee are not final. It has simply to receive the applications
for scholarships and transmit them to the Government with sach
remsarks as it might deem fit to offer. The Government reserves
to itself the right to act up to pr set aside the conclusions of the
Committee.”

Then our talk turned upon several other matiers wkich
1 have not the time to refer to now.

I bade the Nawab Intesar Jung good-bys at about half-paat
ome in the afternoon, He was very kind and civil throughout
the interview, and his manner impressed me as being that of
offe who is as ready and willing to be advised as to advise.

QGureurGa, 3rd September, 1890,
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Gursanea, 1ith September 1866,

Speculation is rife with regard to the question of the four
Government Scholarships founded ostensibly for the benefit of
Hyderabadee students desirous of prosecuting their studies in
England. I have heard that the Scholarships are meant for
four Mahomedan youths, all related to oue or the other of the
leading officials and that the Hindu Cowmmittee and the notice
of a competitive test in the Jareedu are all make-believes ‘having
for their object the providing against the hue and cry of the
newspaper wallaks, and the hoodwinking of the people. And
I.have even been furnished with the names of these fortuoate
youths, by some kind people. 1 shall wait to see how far this
hearsay is true. In the meanwhile, it might interest youy
readers to know, that writing to the Nawab Intesar Jung Baha-
door,—subsequent o my sending you the account of the
interview—anent this affuir® 1 said, ““ The Government might
profitably consult on the matter Hindus of light and leading
like Dewan Bahadoor Raghunath Rao of Madras, Messrs Telang
and Ranade of Bombay, and Dr. Rajandra Lal Mitra of Calcutta.
Nuthing less than a consultation of this sort will, I can assure you,
satisfy the public, and divest the question of the,character of a
“ hole and corner affair ” that many are inclined to give it.”

In a letter on “ Hydcrabad affairs” fromn a correspondent
which appeared in your issue of the 3rd instant, it was stated:
“ A curious order, I hear, was promulgated by the Government
just before the commencemont of the Moharrum. 1t is that
during the Moharrum no music should be played in Hindu
houses, not even bells should be rung.”” 1 was in Hyderabad
during the Moharrum and I did not hear of any such order,
or notico any thiug in proof of such an order having bgen
“ prowulgated by the Goverament.” Buﬁover, to make things

* The examination in counection with the scholarships did come off. And
the names of the successful cundidates were duly anounced. But none of
these has been tg England, though each ouo of them has since been getting a
scholarship for studying in India why,1 cannot say. But the popular impression
is that nov being the favourite students for whom the scholarships lLad been

meant, these successiul canditates were not given them and sent to England,



doubly sure, I wrote to the Nawab Mushtak Hussain for infor-
mation about it; and he has written to me to say; “There is no
truth “h.;tever in the statement made by  a Qorrespondent,”
about ‘“a ocurious .order ”—alluded to by you. It may be
classed with the false  facts’ which mischievous people
manufacture to poison the minds of the public against the

preseat sdministration.”

The rumour that has been going the rounds in Hyderabad for
sometime past, that the Nawab Intesar Jung has resigned his
appointment or is about to resign it—is not without foundation.
I say so on the authority of the Nawab himself. The Nawab, it
would seem, bound himself to serve the Nizam’s Government for a
period of 30 years when he took. service under it during the
days of the first Salar Jung. His term of office expires on the
22nd instant and he has put in an application to the Govern-
ment for permission to retire on pension on that date. * This need
be no matter for surprise’ writes the Nawab.' ‘I told the
late Sir Salar Jung I, when I entered the service that I had
no intention of staying here after the cowpletion of my term;
and I have all along been telling my friends of my intention
to resign my appointment at the close of the term,”

Mr. Seymore Keay’s visit is looked forward to anxiously by
many in Hyderabad. What might come out of his visit, no
body could say, or rather I, who do not happen to be in the
confidence of the busy bodies who lay much store by it, could not
say. But this may be said, that Mr. Keay, such as he has
proved himself to be, now that he can be meddlesome with
impunity is not likely to keep his hands clean of Hyderabad
affairs. I mean to interview him here on his way to Hyderabad,
aftd I may be able to acquaint myself at least with the ostensible
object of this, his second visit to the capital of the Nizam after
his entrance into the House of Commons.
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THE HINDES AND THE NIZANM'S GOVERNMERT.
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HyperaBap, 13th October 1890,

1t is marvellous how public opinion is being educated, shaped
and formed into a factor for the good of the country—~by the
influenco of the Madrasi and the Bengali, Those here who, in
season and out of season, thunder their anathemas against these
for their “ meddlesomeness” and ¢ intellectual dishonesty’” have
little honesty to perceive the real good that they arc "doing to
Hyderabad. And those in power find it little convenient or to
their advantage to confess it. But the  fact remains that but
for the advanced Madrasi and the Bengali the wishes and feelings
of the people might have heen to-day as much a sealed-book to
those at the helm of affairs as they were a few years ago. This
i8 but by the way.

The ¢ gross injustice” of the appointinent of a committee
of orthodoz and ill-informed men to decide, from a religious point
of view, whether Hindu students could cross the “ kala pani,”
and of the condition imposed by the Government which requires
of a student a good knowledge of Persian and Urdu to offer
himself as a candidate for the Government scholarship and
which prevents many a promising Hyderabadee youth from taking
advantage of the opportunity afforded of proceeding to Hugland
for purposes of education—is felt strongly and widely here.
And the public are bestirring themselves to memorialise the
Government with regard to the matter. A meeting of the
Chadarghat Social Club was held last night to consider the
proposition brought forward by one of its members, Mr.
Krishnamachari, B.A., B L, iz, that the Government be mem-
- orialized in the matter of sending Hindu students to England for
purposes of eduneation. It was a large gathering fully represen-
tative of the cult and intelligence of the Hindu portion of the
population of the place. In the absence of Rajah Murli
Mauohur DBahadur, the President, Mr. B. Krishna Iyengar,
Vice-President of the ¢ Club,” occupied the chair,

2



The Chairman by way of explaining the object of ‘the meet~
ing said: He was sure that all present missed the presence
amidst them of the Rajah Murli Manohur Bahadur, the
President. He was sorry that the Rajah was not where he was
to advise them with regard to the proposition that had brought
them together, and by his words throw the weight of his
influence as a member of one of oldest and noblest Hindu
families in the State into the scale against any possible oppo-
sition in high places. But this consoled him, that the Rajah
had beenn the Club’s rooms a few hours previously, and called
away by urgent business elsewhere, left assurance of his sympa-
thy with the object of the meeting and as such would no doubt
subseribe his name to the memorial that might be voted to be
sabmitted to the Government by the meeting. 'Then reading
out Mr. Krishnamachari’s proposition, he continued : He knew
every one would adwmit that the advantages accruing from a
sojourn, however short, in the land of the most enlightened
people on the face of the earth, the English—in the land of
those whom Providence had put in charge of the destinies of
India—were very great. If a short sojourn by reason of giving
an insight into the thoughts and feelings of the West was so
advautageous, how much more must it be when made with the
object of an elucational training thiere ? Whether the Shastras
allowed of Hindus crossing the seas or not, be could not say.
Opinions ,were divided upon the point——the same passages in
the Shastras were differently comstrued. But this he could
say, the times in which we were living were not the same as
those in which our ancestors had lived, tbat we could not, with
impunity, remain stationary while all the rest of the world was
moving, that the wave of enlightenment, of advauced thought
was growing bigger and bigger day by day, that the tide was
increasing in volume and to stem it back would be attended
with grave consequences. As to auntagonism to Hindus going
to England, it was not as strong as it had been—as thne advan-
oed it grew weaker. The caste people, even DBralnnins, were now,
in a way of course, willing to admit their Hngland-returned
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brethern back into caste——as evidenced in the case of a Brahmin
Barrister in Bangalore. This itself showed that belicf atd
prejudice however strongly grounded must give way to the in-
fluences of time and circumstauces. The major portion of the
population in the Nizam’s Dominions was Hindu—and Govern-
ment should be memorialised to show consideration to the
claims of this portion, to encourage them educationally and in
other ways, to give them opportanities of being serviceable
to the State, such opportunities as those of procceding to
England in view to education. With these words, he called
upon Mr. Krishnamachari to ¢ move’’ his proposition.

Mr, V. Krishnamachari, s, A., 5. I,, 8aid : The chairman had
said all that he might have said on the important question of
Hindus making Sea-voyage. And he wounll not weary the
meeting with any repetition. The Nizam’s Goverument had
sanctioned a number of scholarships for the benefit of Hydera-
badee youths desirous of prosecuting their studies in England.:
And they had eutrusted the decision of the question of Hindus
going to England to a number of men very orthodox and as
such adverse to Flindus going to England. This was a wistake
and it needed to be corrected. Then he moved that the Nizam’s
Government be memoralized in the matter of sending Hindu
students to England for purposes of education,

Mr. P. Ramachandram Pillay, a member of the local bar,
rising to second the proposition, said : He had been for many
years resident in Secunderabad, in His Highness the Nizam’s
Dominions, and had always taken interest in t.hiné's affecting
the welfare ot the people. Not being a high functionary in the
State, he had not done much. But whatever it had been possible
for him to do he had not left undone. Recently he had advised
a Hindu lad of his acquaiatance to put in his application for
being permitted to compete for one of the scholarships esta-
blished by the Government for enabling deserving Hyderabadees
to prosecute their studies in England. The advise had been

carried out~=but the application had been rejected on the soore®
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of the applicant’s not knowing Persian and Urdn. . Now, he contd

not for the life of him understand how a knowledge of Pérsian

and Urdu could be of any help to stutlents in their studies iu

England. No doubt a knowledge of Persian and Urdu was
necessary for those who were to serve the Nizam’s Government ;
but then, the knowledge could be acquired by students on their
return from England. The selected candidates for the British
‘Indian Civil Service were made to study the Vernaculars of the
Districts to which they wished to be appointed during their
probationary term of Office. Why should not His Highness’s
Government do a similar thing? The bringing into existence
a committee to decide whether Hindus could, religiously speaking,
cross the “black waters” was not called for. And the appointment
of purely orthodox men on it, gave room for the suspicion that
the Government had prejudged the case—had mude up its mind
not to allow the Hindus to profit by the opportunities, affrded
by the scholarships, of going to England. Au impression had
had been gaining ground that those in power were opposed
to the interests of the Hindus. And this but tended to strengthen
this impression. In the memorial to be submitted to the
Government it should be stated in clear unmistakable torms
that it wounld do well that it would be to its interest to act
80 as to remove this impression. In this connection, he ight
say @ word or two about the statement made by the Nawab
Intesar Jung with reference to the account of the interview
that a friend had had the courage to have with the Nawab on
behalf of the “ Hindu” wiz., that there was apathy on the part of
the Hindus to avail themselves of the opportunities given them
of educating themselves to a high standard. Tho Nawab had
referred, in exemplification of the statsment, to the fuct that
there were few Hindus in the higher grades of the Pleader’s
service. He (the speaker) had moved freely with all classes of
Hindus in the State, and could state, withont the least fear of
contradiction, that there was many -a Hindu who could hold his
own against the Moslem in the higher grades of Pleader’s
oalling, Bat how Hindus in vo way inferior to their Mahome-



dan competitors failed to secnre a pass in the examinations
admitting them to these grades—was a mystery to him as to
every one else. The mystery could not mean any apathy on the
part of the Hindus to wavail themselves of the opportunities
given them of educating themselves to a higher standard.

Mr. Sadagopa Chari, M. a,, in suppoi;ting the proposition
gnid that the Government should be asked to throw the scholar-
ships open to the Hindus as well as to the Mahomedans.

Then Mr. P. Veeraraghavalu Naidu, a non-member, being
permitted by the Chairman to speak ou the occasion, said : There
was no necessity for asking the Governmont in the memorial
to throw the scholarships open to the Hindus. The Government,
notification publishied in the Jareeda a few months previously
threw them open to all bona fide Hyderabadoees, irrespective of
casto or creed. And it was the thought that Hindu lads might
compete for the scholarships as well as other religionists
which led those in power to bring into existence a com.
mittee to decide whether, from a religious point of view, Hindus
could eross the seas—ostensibly to provide against the impression
that the Govermment was doing anything arbitrarily without
consulting the people concerned. So then, our object, in memoria-
lizing the Government, should be to prevent them from being
solely guided by the opinions of the orthodox men on the
committee,

‘Phen the proposition being put to the vote, was carried nem.
con. And a committee was formed of Messrs Krishna Iyengar
Ramachendra Pillai, Krishunamachari ‘and Ramachundra Laksh-
man, to dt'aw'nup a memorial to the Government making mention
of the points dwelt upon by the difforent speakers.
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Hyperaman, 21st October 1890,

The sensation caused by the Nawab Intesar Jung’s applica-
tion for retirement is a matter of ancient histcry. Some gene-
rally well-informed men seem to know all about the secret—and
to have prognosticated the result of it. The Nawab bhas had
several bundreds added to his salary. Whether this is due to
his application or not—or whether this was one of the objects
of the application—I mu-t leave it to those behind the scenes to
say. But this much I could say that inquiring about the ap-
plication the other day the Nawab was kind enough to inform
me that “nothing more”” had ‘“‘as yet" been made knowa to him

regarding it.

The inquiry that is being made into the defalcations in the
Nizain’s Accountant General’s office, reveals how corruption
flourishes here. A lowly paid mutsaddhi-—clerk—obtaining the
Assistant Accountant General’s signature among others, by some
fraudulent means, gets a requisition passed and a cheque issued
for a certain sum of money. The cheque is duly presented at
the Treasury—and cashed. The clerk sees how easily His
Highness’s trusted and responsible servants could be hoodwink-
ed and repeat: his “‘trick” at intervals and in seven years or
more makes away from the Treasury over Rs. 30,000. The
authorities wake up at last—and how they seek to trace the
colprit and his accomplies and make an example of them, it
would be very amusing to know. Think of letting the man who
as the head of the office ought to have taken cognisance of the
evil and arrested it long before this, scotfree ! Think of trying
to punish the assistant who signed on the strength of other signa-
tures in the requisitions while leaving the authors of the other
signatures in peace! Think of admitting the man whose duty
it was to scrutinise so to say every requisition, as a witness
and thus placing him beyond the reach of any suspicion! And
you have an idea of the influences at work for the elucidation
of rAcTs. I may have something very important—and startling
too—~to say about this affair soon. In the meanwhile, I may
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tell you that Jaya Rao, a quondam Accountant General’s office
man fdr a long time out of servioe, was taken into custody some
days back and had to bail himself out. And yesterday,
Mr, Gya Persad, u. A., was cited as a witness for him,

Men in high places are never idle here. They have the
pluck to fight their adversaries, if not in -open daylight at least
in the gloaming. And when they have not work in the enemy’s
camp they find work in their own. And thus we are destined
ever t0 be “tickled” by the effocts of “ powder and shot”—
covert and overt.an a case—to come—which prowmisoes to be
not a bit less sensational than the sensational “ cases” all the
world has heard of, Sir Kurshedjah and Sir Aswmanjah figure
as cowplainant and defendant respectively. 'With advancing
age tho craving for notoriety, or the desire to do things which
one would not do in youth or manhood secems to grow more
and more morbid, Years ago, I remember full well, the almost
universal impression hero was that Sir Kurshedjuh was above
the position of Prime Minister to the Nizam in every way and'
he could never bring himself to think of coming down to it.
But now it is an open secret in all circles that he is moving
heaven and earth to become Minister. And a person in a
position to know much about Sir Kurshedjuh said in the
course of a talk, the other duy: © He seems to be madly in
earnest about becowing minister. One day 1 told him, ‘Nawab
Sab, I Lear you are to be appointed minister.,” ‘Am. I
really going to become winister’? said he, with a,longing
expression on his face., ‘Iam afraid I am destined
only to hear of my becowing minister.” Whether Sir Kursh-
edjah’s Mimical attitude towurds Sir Asmanjah has anything
to do with this desire to rule Hyderabad or not—the fact
remains he will soon file ce:!ain claime against Sir Asmanjah
and has engaged the services of Messrs. Inverarity and Rudra.
But Sir Asmanjah seéms determined not to be behindhand.
'Woe have it on the uuthority of the .Deccan Standard, that Sir
Asmanjah means to press his clauns, before His Highness the
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Nigam himself, to succeed to the Paigab of the late Molitaghim-
ud-Dowlab, his brother,—the revenues of which are, iwr part,
cujoyed by Sir Kurshedjah according to the first Salar Jung’s
decision,

Rumour has it that there isto be a vacancy created in the
High Court shortly by the retirement of one of the dJudges.
If this is true, I hope the Nizam’s Government will ses its way
to nominating a Hindu to the place. Rouglly speaking,
Hindus form nine-tenths of the population in these Dominions.
That their claims to be represented on the High Court beuch
should be overlooked is, to say the least, great injustice.

" In acknowledging the memorial sent on the 2nd instant,
by the local Hindu Social Club to the Governor-General
in Council, praying for the “age of consent” being raised to
14, Colonel J. C. Ardagh, Private Secretary to the Viceroy,
writes :—1 am desired by the Viceroy to say that the representa-
tions therein contained will receive due consideration by the
Gvernor-General in Council,

“The Malwala Sabba ”” which owes its cxistence to the
Rajah Murli Manohur Bahadur is doing a lot of good work in
the City. One of its essential objects scems to bu to preach
to the people on the advantages of education and thus to clear
the path of all prejudices. To judge by the lurge number of
men present at a meeting of the “Sabha” I had the pleasure
of attending sometime ago, the loud applause that the lecturer
of the evening, the Rajah Murli Manobur Bahadur, was every
now and then greeted with by them-—the weekly lectures of
the Sabha are very much appreciated in the city. Mrs, Shaventi-
bai Trimbak Canaran, one of the lady delegates to the dombay
Congress—on a short visit here—addressed one of the
meetings of this Association recently on ¢ Femnle Education.”
I wish the “ Sabha” all success.

I have to acknowledge with thanks, the receipt of a copy
of a pamplet ou “The proposed Poorhouse and Orphanage for
tho City ” by the Rajah Murli Manohur Bahadur,
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“ The proposed Poorhouse and Orphanage for the City,”
is o pathetic appeal made to His Highuess the Nizam’s Govern-
ment in bebalf of the poor and orphan part of the population
of the land. The Rajah Murli Manohur begins by pointing out
what constitutes good governmeut—how much the strength of
a Government is depeudent on the peaee and prosperity of the
governed—and how the low no-less than the high classes of
the people serve to givesit a lasting character. Then dwelling
upon the miseries of the poor, the beggars, and the orphans, he
suggests the estallishment of a Poorhonse and Orphanage’ in
the city. The cost of constructing a huilding to house 500 people
he lays at the modest sum of Rs. 15,000; and thinks that the
monthly oxpenses due to giving food &ec., will not exceed
Rs. 3,000, He appeals to the Government to undertake to meet
but a portion of the expenses to he incurred, and submits
the following proposals for raising therest of the sum necessary
for the purpose :—

(1) The Government should be pleased to pay half tle cost of the
construction of the building from the Pullic Treasury, and to accord
its sanction to the holding of a lottery fur rvaising the other half.

(2) To meet current expeuses, a small income-tax shounld be levied
as follows: a tax of half a pic per Kupeo nn those whose income is
Rs. 40 or upwards; and of 3 pies per Rupee on Mansalidars, who practi-
cally get paid for doing no work,

(?) Out of the amount alloted o Urus cercmonies (offerings to
saints), in which a lot of unuceessary expenditure is incurved, five per
cent should be paid towanrds this bencficient purpose. It is certain that
the souls of the holy dead will all the mwore fecl pleased and satisfied
at this diversion of a portion of the funds set apart for their own propi-
tiation, to the beneficient purpose of protecting helpless orphans.

(4) A sum of Rs. 300 per mensem should he paid from the Govern-
ment Treasury, 150 for the Orphanage and 150 for the Poorhouse, It
is boped, that hy this means, the funds of the iustitution will always bo
in a prosperous condition.

() A box shonld be kept in every Urus Jathra in the nawe of the
Orphan and Poor Fund and one dub each from persons attending such

3
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gathering shonld he collected. Any collections thua made shall be expen.
ded exclusively for supplying food.

If the sums thus realised are not sufficient to meet current expenses
for the maintenance of orphans and the poor, subscriptions should be
collected from Amirs and Sahukars.

So “stands ” the appeal made by the public spirited Rajah
on behalf of the neglected portion of humanity in these parts.
And it is impossible not to recognise the disinterestedness and
kindheartedness that every line of it speaks volumes of I am
told that some higwigs are not kindly disposed and will
come in the way of the Government showing practical sympathy
with the Rajah’s noble and Jaudable object. I fervently hope
that this is not true—that influential men will not prove to be so
heartless as to stay the hand ruised to mitigate the miseries of
suffering humanity—and that His Highness's Government will
ere long do the ncedful to bring the Rajali Mucli Mauohur
Bahadur’s proposal withiu measurable distanco of success
I noed hardly say that I wish the Rajah all success in his cfforts.
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HIS HIGHNESS THE NIZAN'S TREASURY FRAUDS.

HyperaBAD, November 7.

As promised in my last, I shall make a beginning to-day in
the matter of saying what 1 have to say—or rather what one
unwarped by party influences and acquainted with the facts o
the case, has to say—on the subject of the frauds which has
been stirring the public mind for some time past. The inquiry
set on foot into the frauds reveals a new phase of activity in the
history of factions here. Hitherto men in power were content
with swaeping off into the obscurity of nominal positions all
their antagonists. I3ut now, nothing short of the utter disgrace
and ruin of all in their path of self-aggrandisement, seems to
satisfy them. We have lknown for a long, long time that the
administration of justice in the Hyderabad Courts isa farce—
and the Nawab Imad Nawaz Jung has had the courage to fling
this truth in the teeth of the Minicter in his application (published
in the Deccan Ttmes);: but we mnever kncew before this that a
Judge of the Migh Court wns capablo of misinterpreting evidence
and indulging in gratuitous reflections with respect to witnesses.
But we live and learn, you know.

In connection with the Treasury frauds, I have to notice two
cases. One was disposed of some timo ago by Mr, Afsul Husain
the Renior puisne Judge of the Hyderabad Adawlet-aitaliya—it
cannot be called the High Court in this particular instance—
snd the second case is at present pending before the same learned
Judge. 'The first case attracted little or no attention, probably
because Jaya Rao, the chief of the accused therein, was compa-
ratively an insignificant man in Hyderabad politics. While the
second case in which guch well-known namwes as the Nawab
Hussan Bin Abdulla, Imad Nawaz Jung Bahadur and the Rajah
Srinivas Rao figure among the accused, is creating a great deal
of sensation in all ciroles here. The proceedings, so far as they



have been gone through, have been so flagrantly irregular in
character as to call forth a leader—ever at the risk of social
ostracism—from the Editor of the Deccan T'imes, severely ani-
madverting on the conduct of the Judge, as well as to be stigma-
tised'by the Government itself as ““a grave arror.” (Vileresolution
of Government, published in the Deccan Times of the 1st Instant
over the signature of the Nawab TFateh Nawaz Jung Baladur
wherein it is stated that the Minister is of opinion that the court
has committed a grave error in the matter, etc). Before
saying eanything sbout the first casoe, I shonld like to supplement
briefly the remarks iu the Deccan Time’s leader in re the second
~one. DBeing asked to enlarge Sriram Pandit, one of the accnsed
“im this case, on bail, by hia counsel, Mr. Nelson, the Judge is
reported to have said : “k aw not iuclined to grant your appli-
cation, as considering the evidence befure me which I i not at
present prepared to disclose, I deem it right to 1cfuse the
application.”  Wherefromn did the Judge receive “tlie evidence
before mo which I awm not at preseut propared to disclose™ ?
Was he justified in receiving sub rosa evidence against acensed ?
And these lead us to the question : Is it after all true that these
are all trumped-up cases, the decisions whereof had been written
out, or at all events thought out hefore any proccedings®actually
began? Those that are learned in the law ought to be able
to sny whether after such an adwmission as that made in open
Court with reference to Mr. Nelson’s applieation for hailing
Sriram Pandit out, the Judge can boe lield compatent to try the
case, But to us, laymen, it soems masquerading with justice to
allow to rit in judgment over any one, & mai, . Judge though
Lie be of the High Court, who is hable not only fo receive im-
pressions ocutside the pale of the Court hut to hold a sort of a
consultation with the prosecntion. This conduct of the Judge
lends colour to the ugly rumours afloat in the City to the effect
that hig jndgment in the first casuv—a specinl translation of which
. appears in the Deccan Standard, the mouthpiece of the Govern-
ment, not” 8o wmuch it would seem, to throw any light on the
subjeot as to propagate waunton libels and fictions for the de-
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lectation of a special public—was written within closed doors.
This Brings us to the first case. No information either about the
working of the Accountant-General’s Office or about the period
‘“during which Jaya Rao was engaged in submitting the
accounts of the linhilities of the late Mukhtar-ul-mulk”—came
out in evidence in Court. Yet an account of the working of
the oftice is given and reference is made to the period in the
judgment ubove referred to. Where and how did Mr. Afsul
Husain get information regarding these ? This question certainly
does not furnish any. contradiction to the ugly rumours I have
allnded to—it does not weakeun the impression produced on the
public mind by the rumours ; on the other hand, it strengthens
it.  Just as Mr. Gya Persad was taking charge of the office of
the Deputy Accountant-General, a memo was submitted to him
from the Pre-audit Department. He attached thereto a memo
expressing his opinions thereon and passed it on to the Accoun-
tant-Genernl foc final orders. And the Accountant-General
did issne an order holding the Assistant Accountant-General
of the Pre-Andit Department wholly responsible for the cor-
rectness of chaques. There is no doubt that the latter part of
this order by itself is rather ambiguous. But taken as a whole
the order leaves not the slightest room for doubting that the
Accountant General coufirmed Mr Gya Persad’s memo. The
Judge hiad it in his power to convince himself of this by refer.
ring to the order-book in whicli this order, which had been
circuluted in the Accountant General's office, finds place,
Althcugh Mr. Gys Persad’s Memo on the subject of the respon-
wibility of issuing cheques is given in extenso in the judgment
published in the Deccan Standard, all but a referrence to the
Accountant General’s order is studiously avoided—studiously,
I saw advisedly, for the first -two lines alone of this order ex-
pose the falsity of the statemsnt in the judgment, ‘“that the
memo was noc confirmed by the Nawab Mokaraub Jung Buhadar,
the Accountant General when laid before him.” So large was
the nmount and so varied the nature of the work that Mr. Gya
Persad was expected to do, that shortly after he had take =
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charge of the office of Dapnty Accountant General, he had to
give up even signing cheques “blind-folded.” 1In the light of
all these facts, the portion of Afsul Husain’s judgment I have
been concerned with, furnishes the clearest possible casenot
only of suppressio veri but of suggestio falsi. No respectable
member of the Bar bound todefend his client would stoop to
such subterfuges—but the senior puisne judge of the Adawlai-ai-
atiya isa privileged person ! 1t is stated in the julgwment: “He
(Mr. Gya Persad) further admitted that such an innovation
{as is suggested in his memo.) could not have been hrought into
force without the sanction of Goverument, and that such sanction
was not obtained.” WWhat Mr. Gya Persad actually admitted
was that if the Accountant Geuneral's Offico were a well-regulat-
ed office no innovation in the “practices” of it could be introduo-
ed without the sanction of the Government. I leave you to see
how far this accords with the admission aseribed to Mr. Gya
Persad by the Judge. I may remark in passing fhat the Ac-
countant General’s office is one of the worst managed offices in
the State—not one man therein bas his duties defined but de-
pends for work solely on the discretion of the Ascountant
(reneral. The judgment has it that “when Jaya Rao had to
sign clieques he, either through misconeeption, or wilfully, also
made it (the Accountant General’s order on Mr, Gya TI'ersad’s
memo.) a safeguard for himself, and leaning on it signed ficti-
tious cheques. This is the very period during which Jaya Rao
was engaged in yubmitting the acconnt of the liabilities of the
late Mukhtar-ul-mulk. . . . At this time on account of
intrigaes in which both of them were engaged, Jaya Rap had
become exceedingly bold. Tle link of these intrignes is in
existence still.” A tfissue of statements more characterised by
untruth and rancour, I have not come across. The first ficti-
tions cheque, as shown in the statement given in the iudgmant
became complete order for payment on the 21st Farwardi 1297
F, while the Salar Jung liability accounts had been settled long
before that time, ahout Amerdad or Sharawar 1296 F. Yet the
period of the issue of the fictitious cheques is said by Mr, Afsul



Husain to be syncronous with that of the settlement of the
Salar*Jung liability-accounts. Poor Afsull Some one seems
to have ““pilled” him to his leart’s content. As for the latter
part of the above quotation, where is the relevancy, I ask, of
the remarks contained therein? TFurther on in the judgment
it is said: “Gaya Persad’s evidence ftully shows that he had
gone to assist the Pleader in behalf of the accused. Under
such circumstances, the evidence’ given by him is of no nse to
the accused.” How the evidence given by one who went to
- assist the accused’s Pleader could ho of no use—the “learned”
Judge best knowas himself.

So munch about the sins of commission, Now I shall say
a few words about those of omission. Here too Afsul Husain
does not come off with flying colours. Yon will see from the
foregoing that I have studiously avoided saying anything anent
the merits of the case itself. Buot now it becomes absoiutely
necessary to refer to a point which in the trial of Jaya Raoand
others was—intentionally or not I cannot say—altogether lost
sight of. And the point is tho question—whether the Treasury
(as distinguished from the Accountant-Gienerals Office Ywas quite
guiltless (ina criminal sense) or nnculpable (in a departmental
sense), Tliere is no doubt that the cheques were fictitious,
But in favour of whom were they cashed and wky? The
cheques of the Accountant-Generals Office are payable to
the person named therein or to his order,—and not to
bearer. Now, it is an ostablished fact that in few cases
a first class DBank would undertake to receive cheques payable
to a particular person or “ to order.”” But when once the res-
ponsibility is undertaken, it becomes the duty of the Bank to
satisfy itself of the genuineness of the endorsements on the
cheques before they are cashad, What then were the steps,
I ask, taker by the 'Treasury to assure itself that the endow-
ments on the reverse of the fictitious cheques were genuine
and bore the signatures of the persons in whose favour they
were ‘“drawn”? The failure to ascertain the geniineness or
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negloct of duty. Has any attempt been made to walke the
Treasury Officer or his office people account for; the failure ?-
No;and why not? Because as a favourite of the Minister,

Munaverkhan, then I'reasury{Officer and now Officiating Accoun-

tant-General, stands next only to the Nawab Intesar Jung.

A potent reason to be sure ; and this is labelled Justice in Hy-

derabad,

I believe I have noticed the judgment enough for to-day to
give you an idea of the prejudice and influences that Afsul
Husain has allowed to be brought to bear upon his judgment
This is the man who, secure from his position on the Bench
against the penalties prescribed for defamation characterisos the
evidence of a witness as untrustworthy, without a shred of a
reason for doiug so, and indulges in gratuifous insinuations with
respect to him. And thisis the man too who #at in judg-
ment over Jaya Rao, once Deputy Accountant-General and
sentenced him to 10 years’ rigorous imprisonment and a fine
of Rs. 5,000 and who sits in judgment over such men ax the
Nawab Imad Nawaz Jung and the Rajah Srinivas Rao, to award
=—~@God knows |—what punishment.
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‘Hypurasip, 27th November 1#90’

Tha gunshing of teeth and searching of hearts caused in
' co:_'tnm oﬂicw.l circles by my letter on the Hyderabad Treasury .
frrmds pubhshed in your issue of the 14th Instant—the’ 1unmng
man m:ght have seen. Speculation has leen rife in some
qua;tals as to the authorship of the letter—and [ am ecredibly
informed that the house of & poor innocent suspect who has the
misfortune to live in the Moglai Jurisdiction was searched.
But no one has ventured to gainsay the facts mentioued therein
or question the inforences drawn therefrom. The Government
organ, as expected, attempted a veply to iy letter, but the
reply only tended to expose the extreme weakness of the cause
it essayed to advocate. Evidently on the priuciple, “Call a dog
by a bad name and then bang it,” the “Deccan Standard” termed
my experience “unfledged” and slurred over my remarks anent
the administration of Justice m Hyderabad. Though it is not
pleasant or convenient for interested men here to remember, it
may interest your readers to know, that what I said in my letter
about the way in which things are managed in the Hyderabad
Courts had been atated before that in stronger terms by a well-
known Barrister who has lad a great deal to do with these
courts in connection with Gribble wva. Gallagher thus: «It is
& well-known fuct that Justice in Ilyderabad 1s a toss.up, and
the Judges are all more or less partizans of the Government.”
The “Hyderabad Record™ reproduced my letter on the Treasury
frands in its issue of the 24th Instunt. But for its having
changed hands, the letter would Law sure, have been allowed
to pass unnoticed by the “Record.” Wither its present proprie-
tors are strong enough to de without the favour of the menin
power or they ave not aware of the threat—to withhold all
Government patronage, 1 the shape of Job-work, &e.,—held
ont to its former proprietors in a coufidential letter from the
Home Secrctary, on ihe occasion of the publication, in its
columns, of a paragraph to the effect that Mushtak Hussain was
more anixous to add  few cipliers to his own salary than to go
4
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justice by the living represeniative of an old illustrious Hindg
family. The *“Record” while reproducing the Jpiter, gdve its
readers to understand that it reserved its remarks on the case
the letter dealt with for a future occasion as it ‘was still sube
Judiec’ Mark! The case according to the decision passed by
Afzul Hussain in which old Jaya Rao with several others is in
obains is sub-judice in the opinion of the Kditor of the “Hyders
bad Record”. This, as well as the fact that the *‘Hindu,” pub-
lished hundreds of miles away from Hyderabad, evinces greater
interes$ in its affairs and the welfare of the Hyderabadees than

the papers in the place, farnishes a curious commentary upon
the way in which the local Journalists discharge their ¢ solemn

trust.” I have one more local Journal to notice. The “Safeeri-—
Dekhan ” published a translation, a mutilated one though it
was, of my letter. And for this, I am informed, the Editor was
severly rated by one of the smaller fry of the preseni Govern-

ment at the race stand, the other day.

I have to say a few words about the second case in connec-
tion with the Treasury frauds. The Government has so fur been
influenced by public opinion that instead of committing the
Nawab Imad Nawaz Jung and the Rajab Srinivasa Rao and
others to the *‘tender mercies ” of the despotic legal instincts
of Afzul IInssain, it has appointed a commission to try them,
though, on =what principle the’self-same Afznl Hussain has boen
nomina{.ed‘]:’resideut of the commission, God only knows. In
this case Dilwar Nawaz Jung, the principal offender, has been
granted pardon by the Government. But what the object or
nature of “the pardon™ is, it is not possible to say. Up to now,
Dilwar Nawaz Jung has not been examined on oath as “ Queen’s
evidence”. Aad whether the pardon secures to him immunity
from punishment only, or immunity from punishment as well as
the right to keep unto himself the 4,50,000 Hali Sicca rupees
due from him to Government, those who were instrumentalin
the granting of the pardon alone could say. If the pardon has’
for ite object the providing against Dilwar Nawaz Jung’s béing
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punished -as well as parting with the money, then it wonld mean

that $hat man who profitted by the frauds has been bribed to
incriminate others. Besides this, I have to mention another fact
which goes far to show that the proceedings of the Government
are not dictated by the best of motives. I mean the ommission
of the then Treasurer’s name or the names of his office men from
the list of the accused in the second case—which has cansed
not a little surprise in knowing circles here. The cheque for
‘Rs. 47,000 was payable to Chaturbuja Dass, and yet the money
was paid to Saligram. And the statement that it was done so
on the strength of a verbal order from Jaya Rao, the Deputy
Accountant General, does not count for much in the face of the
fauct that Jaya Rao denies having issued such an order. The
systematic omission of the then treasurer’s name from the list
of the accused in this as well as the first case in connection with
the frauds, is significant. You will see from the above that
I have said nothing to prejudice the case now ponding.

A case has recently come to my knowledge, which repre-
gents Mushtak Hussain’s Government in no favourable lighte—
or rather which throws a flood of light on the mysterious ways
of it. One Tirumal Rao, ouce a clerk in the Accountant Gene-
ral’s Office, inherited on the demise of his two elder brothers,
all their Muktas and Rasoons. e had been in the enjoyment of
the revenues of these Muktas and Rasoons for sometime, when
he was asked, I am told to do something which he refused to do,
either because he was honest or because he dreaded consequ-~
ences. And in conscquence, official persecution was initiated
against him. The question of Tirmal Rao’s right to inherit his
brother’s estate was raked up. And a precis of the case was
made up by the most trusted of Mushtak Hussain’s assistants
in the Revenue Secretariat,s0 asto warrant the confiscation of
the Muktas and Rasoons. Mushtak Hussain, the minister de
Jfacto, signed the “precis ; the Nawab Basheerud Daulah, the
puppet minister, approved of the confiscation; and Tirimal’s
Myhtas and Rasoons were duly confiscated. I may state here
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that the Sunnadhs anthovizing :possession of the “Mukine ‘shag:
that Tirumal Rao held, had been granted to him . nude#-the
authority and seal.of {he late Sir Salar Jung If; and that a long -
Roobkar issued by the Political and Financial Secretary’s office
daring the time of the Second Salar Jung on which the whole

case hinged was not so wmuch as referred to in the precis al-

though it had been addressed to the Revenne Secretary uand

formed the most important paper of the file of the case in the
Revenue Secretarint, 1irumal Rao, though a very insignificant’
maun, somehow managed to geta hearing from His Highness

the Nizam. And at the instance of His Highness, than’ whom

it would be difficult to find a ruler more clear headed and in-

terested in the welfare of his subjects, the case was gone into
by two of the most prominent officei= of His Highness’ staff.

The Assistant in the Revenue Secretariat who had drawn . up
the preciz, was Sumwmoned before them, the proceedings which

had resulted in the confiscution of the Muktas etc, were quash-
ed, and the Muktas and Rusoons were restored to Tiramual Rao,

It is rumoured in the city that orders were about to h:e passed

for the suspension of the Assistaut in the Revenuo Sceretaviat

when the all-powerful Mushtak Hussain interceded and saved
his protege. Now, I ask, should not the Government- have
enquired as to the reason for ignoring in the precis the existance
of the Roobkar from the I'olitical and Financial Secretary’s
Office ! And should not Mushtak Hussain whose signature the
procis bears he held respongible for it ? '

Sir Asmanjah has recently issued to the City Kotwal an
order to the effect that he should not arrest any of his own or.
the Nawab Vicar-vl-Umra’s retainers under any circumstauces—
thus making an invidions distinction of his and Vienr-ul-Umra’s
retainers and those of Sir Kurshedjah and other noblemen,
The inadvisability, if not the unreasonableness, of the order is
apparent, and I refrain from making any comments upon it,

I have been placed in possession of some facts giving an
insight into the means employed to bring abont the non-accepv
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tamos of Mushtak ‘Hussain’s application for retirement on

pegﬁi(:‘;r._l hold these over for another letter and hope in the
meantime to be'able to assure myself of the correctness of them.

_ The Nawab Abdul Latif Khan Bahadur C. I. E. of Calcutta
is sti'l here. He dovs not seem to he n persona grata to some of
those in power : but, all the same, lie is receiving a hearty
reception at the hands of the noblemen and the leaders of people
here.. And he is sure to carry away pleasant recollections of
his visit to this city. Tast night the members of the Chaddar-.
ghaut “Hindn Social Club,” of which the Rajah Murli Manohur
Babadur is President, assembled in the club rooms to meet
the Nawab. He came in at about 6-15 p. m. and in his chat
with the members, which lasted for ‘about two hours, proved
himself a genial large-hearted oldman who carried his 62 years
lightly. He said le noticed with regret the absence of sym-
pathy between those at the helm of affairs and their Hindu
fellow subjects, and felt surprised that the Hindus who formed
a vast majority in the State were not represented in the admi-
nistration. Ile spoke of the Indian National Congress move-
ment and said that though he sympathised with it, he had to
keep aloof from it because he did not want to lose touch with
hia Moslem followers who wore not advanced enough to ap-
preciate the congress and thus lose all chance of doing good to
them. ''hen he spoke of the necessity there was for Hindus
and Mahomadans to unite and “fight” constitutionally for
previleges, the low stato into which indigenous #ndustries had
fallen and s0 on and se on, He hade the members “goodbye”
at about 8-30 p. m.
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Hyourasap, 8tk Derember; 1808,

The past week has beeu eventful othermse thin politically
for the execution of the seritence of denth by hangmtv passed on
a Madrasee lad, named Dorasawini, for murdering a child, n.nd
the preferring of a charge of child-murder against Mr. W D,
Edwards, of the now defunct “ Uelegraph’ and of the Hydera-
bad Prize Union Lottery” notoriety by his wife. Dorasawmi
suffered the extreme penalty of the. law last Monday morning.
And Mr. Edward’s murdering his son, a boy of about 10 years
of age, turned ount to be the reverse of truth—the creation,
ovidently, of the imagination of an anxions, sorrowing mother,
He was acquitted last Thursday morning, by Mr Bosanquet, ¢.s.,
ou the strength of the evidence of Drs. Hehir and Lawrie—who
Liad held medical examinations on the body of the deceased
child—which went to show that the child had died from exhaus-
tion caused by chronic dysentery.

An item of social news that comes to me from a trustworthy
quarter is worth telling, as giving one an idea as {o what an
exaggerated scnse of their own importance and influence some
people entertain in Hyderabad, and how much they calculate
upon it. A gentleman on the staff of His Lixcellency Sir Asmwan-
jah Bahadur introduced, I am told, into the company assembled
at Basheer-Bagh on the occasion of the last davnce therein, a
young lady not generally received in what ig called high class
sgciety. The society ladies could not put up with this, and they
in a body went into the cloak-room and ordered out their
carriages—with the result that the ‘offender’ chaperoned his
young lady away from the scene though much against his will.

LIu my last letter I referred to Sir Asmanjah as * the puppet
minister.””  Your readers might like to know why I did so. It
is an open secret that Sir Asmanjah conld not—at any rate,
does not—dispose of any single ‘ paper,’ although hundreds of
such papers are submitted to him daily. In the first instanice
each paper goes to Mushtak Husain who reads it and pias to it a .
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setsp. of paper contmining an etdorsement or opinion for the
Mipisfer to copy out thereon. This fact could be testified to-by
most of the Leads of offices here, for at one time or snother some
of these scraps with a tale to tell have found their way, through
carelessness surely, into them and caused no little amusement
therein. This conveys iruth but not the full truth about 'the
way the minister administers the State. Mehdi Hassan as being’
next in rank to Mushtak Husain is accorded the privilege of
gubmitting papers from his office direct to the Minister. And
even fie ean get no orders passed without the knowledge of the:
Minister de fucto. Whenever Mehdi Hussan is announced at the
Miunister’s place, the Minister inquires if Mushtak Husain is
there; and if the wise Mushtak is non est Mehdi Hussan, however
important and urgent in character his papers may be, is made to
await his arrival. And then both are ushered into the Minister’s
presence. Sir Asmanjah liears the papers read by Meldi Hassan,
keeping a close watch all the while on his factotum’s face, and
guided by the expressiou of it—this by the way, puts me in mind
of Rajah Rampal Sing's description of the ways of some members
of Legislative councils—bhe either aflixes his signature to the
papers or refuses to do so and asks for the papers to he left with
him, This is a fact—and represents a funny, though very much
to-be-regrotted stato of affairs. 1f the Minister is so helpless
why should not, it might be asked, Mushtak ITussain be appointed
as Ministor ?)

I told you in my last how persecution is initiated against
those that have in any way proved themselves obnoxious
to thoso in power. I shall in this give you an instance or two to
show how they allow themselves to be moved in favour of the
“favourites.” I have to refer to a cuse disposed of some months
ago by the city High Court, »iz., the case of Balakishan Doss,
Balakishan was alleged to have committed forgery ou a certain
document said to be in the Political and Finaucial Secrelary’s
office. The Political and Iinancial Secretary’s office was
written to for the document and it was duly desputched from
the office, Reaching the Court aiter it had closed, the
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dacument was, nccording 4o the instrictions-of a Judge.whe'
happened to be there, entrusied to the. Registrar of the Courly

aud he had it safely locked up ina room. -Taeinight passed.;

_bat, the next morning the Judges were informed thut the degus

weut had beon stolen away the previous night. The Nawab
Akbar Jung, the city kotwal, was ordered to inquire -into the
abstraction. The Nawab inquired and subwmitted a . report-ta

Government but to find that his inquiry had Deen all a wild

goose chase. The report never saw the light of day. ‘I'higis
instance No. 1. About two weeks ago a seb of double cheques e

fictitious cheques to the value of about Rs. 11,000 was discower<

ed to have been issued by the Pre-audit Department of the Ac-

countant General’s office. But no notice has as yet been taken

- of this. The Pre-audit as well as the Military Branclies being

officered by the lucky favourites nothing will probably come

out of the discovery. And this is instance No. 2.

Now about how the Nawab Mushtak Husain’s resignation
came to be not accepted by His Highness the Nizam: Mushtak
Husain, as every well-informed person here is aware, put in his
resignation expecting to be asked by His Highness to withdraw
it because of the Ministers’s influence with him. And when it
transpired that His Highuoess was willing to accept his resigna-
tion, he felt like one caught in the meshes of his own net and
summoned two of his henchmen to lelp him oat of the diffi-
culty. He aud two other high officials in the State met ina
solemn conclave and deliberated and deliberatéd until at last
they hit upon the most effective romedy—that of raising a ery
of public calamity. Then the partisans went about one by one .
at regular intervals making Mushtak Hussain’s resignation out
to be a “public calamity.,” And this cry of “public calamity’
saved Mushtak Husain. '

We have a fair, every year, held on the occasion of a festis
valin Sri Ramaswami’s Temple at Jeedkal—in the Eastern,
Division—the part of His Highness's Dominions said to have
most benefitted by the Nawab Intesar Jung’s symathy towards
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#ha ryota ! The fair for this year.came off on Sunday, the 30th
of November. . Several high officials of the State went to wits
nees it, ‘And one of thew, the Nawab Medhi Hassan Fatel
Nawaz Jung proposed the health of “one whose name was
inseparably connected with the advance, the prosperity and
well-being of the Eastern Division,”—that is, the Nawab
Intesar Jung—in terms that could not be upplied to any one
person living. He spoke of the lucky Nawab as perfection all
round. I am not going to quarrel with him for this, for I know
88 well as any one else, that every one has his own way of
looking at things, has peither the same eyes to look with or the
game medium to look through. But only I wish to look at his
“perfection’ for a little while as a servant of the Government—
a8 the Revenue Secretary. According io a Government order
a8ub-tenant could be ousted out of a land, by the owner, within
12 years of his possession of it by means of & complaint to a
Revenue Court. Aund yet those at the head of affairs in one of
the Divisions disposed of thousands of cases on the assumption
that a sub-tenant in possession for 8 years could nnt be ousted
\except Ly e-complaint to the Civil Court—the more costly of
the revenue and civil courts. The Nawab Mushtak Husain who
must have, as the Reveuue Socretary, heard some of these cases
in appeal, failed to take any notice of this injustice-~this con-
travertion of Government orders, Theu again, Mushtak
Hussain, though placed in possession of the most notorious facts
about the administration of the Parbani District has not stirred
80 much as a finger of his with regard to the matter. Such
instances could be multiplied. So much for Mushtak Hussain
as the Revenue Secretary—for ‘his sympathy towards the ryots.’

I should like to tell you how the Hindu Rajas in His
Highness’s Dominions fare at the hands of the clique in power—
whit a hard time of it they have under the present regime. You
will remember that some weeks ago I referred in your columns
to the litigation threatening between the Raja Sahib of Anagondi
and  Bansi Rajab because the Jatter, the Raja Sahib’s creditor,

b}
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hisd Been aflowed, by the Bevidre - Bécretary] 1o tale Subeibll
possetsion of two villages, Koorgul and Sangameswar,” Mmpr#
ing the piivate estates of the Raja Sahib,  The shost Mmsi:M'
‘Hhifug in this connection was, as you will remeniber; that then
the Raja Sahib of Apagondi appealed to Mushtak Fasain &8
Rovenué Secretary against tho arbitrary proceedings whick hsd
cilminated in Bansi Raja’s taking forcible possession of:{lé
villages, he was referred—by Mushtak Hussan—to & civil' codt.
Now, I shall put before you a short account of the way in which
the Raju Sahib has been reduced by the powers-that-be to the
position of a Raja only in name. You know that Anagondi is
what has descended to the present Raja of the once powerful
kingdom of Vijayanagar. The First Mysore war reduced its
limits considerably, and the second Mysore war reduced them
further still—and in consequence the revenue fell from 60,000
star pagodas to 8,710 star pagodas. This brings us to the time
of 8ri Krishna Deva Rajulu who, dying childless, was sucoeeded
by his widow Rani Kuppamma. The Rani adopted Sri Sriranga-
dava Rajulr., the present Layin Forwardi 1297 Fasli, Roeog-
nizing ; vhis adoption the Nizam’s Govermmnent, curwalv enough
‘airected that Anagondi should pay an annual peisheush of H. 8.
Rs. 10,000. 'The state not having paid peishcush of any kind
beforé this, the Nizam’s Government was appealed to againzt
this new rnling—and cousequently the Anagondi state was pat
under attachment aud the Subadar of the Southern Division
was sent to Anagondi to report on the State of the place. The
Subadar after due enquiry, reported the inability of the Raja
to pay any peisheush ; and this, you would be surprised {o learn,
resulted in a Roobkar from tho Reveuue Secretary, dated ihe
24th Aban, 1298 Fasli, which raieed the peisheusk from 10,000
to 18,800 H. 8. Rs. payuble with retrospective effect from Faslj
1297, The Kaju Sahib appealed again; and Mr. A. J. Dunlop,
Iuspector-General of Revenue was deputed by the Govarnmalnl't_.
to visit Anagondi to report thereon. Mr. Dunlop, after seeing
things for himself there, recommended the imposition of a
nowminal petsheush of H. 8. Rs, 1,000 per apnum, This recom-



wiendation.fell flat upon the auntherities eoncerned. The Rajs
Sahib “thereon submitted a memorial to His Highness. the Nizam
théough his Private Secretary. And his memorial and repeated
reminders having elicited no reply, the Raja. Sahib’s counsel,
Mr: 8. B.'R. Ajengar, Barrister-at-Law, called upon the Private
Becretary, I am told, and at his suggestion has made a represens
tition of the whole case to the Resident. The Resident’s deci-
&lon is awaited eagerly by all Hindug? Tho tale that this tells
6f the procedure of the present administration, I have no time
to comment upon in this letter,

I am informed that the City Tigh Court, has called upon
~ Mr. Rudra to show cause why he should not be debarred from
appearing before it for his remarks about the administration
of justice in Hyderabad in comncction with Gribble wversus
(Gallagher.
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The local papers are full of & horrible ‘marder committed,
in the city. A native Christian woman (a Mahomedan convert).
was in the absence of her husband, decoyed into:an out-of-thes
way part of the city on Saturday evening, last, and there,
stripped of the valuables about hep person, yas inhumanly
tortured to death. Thoe mavgled heap was carefully packd up
in a:box and sent the next day to the Hyderabad Goods Shed
to be booked to Lahore as a consignment of wearing apparel.
The booking office being closed—it being a Sunday—the. box
was taken back to the city, but it was brought to the Goods
Bhed on Monday, the 8th instant, and was duly booked ; and
a receipt being granted therefor, the consigenee, by name
Abool Hoossain, walked away withcut in the least betraying
bimself. Hours passed and ‘the murderous deed remained
unsuspected until the stench sent forth by the dead body in an
advanced state of decomposition attracted attention. Then the
city Kotwal and others were sent for, and in their persence the
box was opencd and the mutilated corpse was pulled out of a
gunny bag in which 1t had boen tied up to unfold its frightful
tale. Those concerned in the murder including the man who
presonted the package at the Goods shed to be booked to
Lahore, bave—thanks to the energy of our city Kotwal—since
been apprehended. The chicf actor of this blood—curdling
tragedy is said to be a pleader related to the person who acted
as crown-prosecutor in the first of the Treasury fraunds cases,

You know that roughly speaking seven-ninths of the po-
pulation of His Highuess the Nizam’s Dominions, are Hindus,
And common sense would allow to the interests and comforts
of this vast majority a larger share of the attention of the Ruler
than that devoted to any other section of the people. But what
is it that we see here ? The paucity—if not the utter absence
—of Hindus in the higher grades of the services, is striking and
takes every new comer by surprise. Andasif the systematic
withholding of official favour were not enongh, the Hiadus



s?f.

are-not even pérmitted to celebrate their festivals undisturbed..
Whenever Dasara falls within the ten days of Moherrum, the
Hindas aie forbidden to observe tlie ceremonies of the season
until Mohorrum is over. And the annoyance and discomfort.
this causes; a Hinda alone can understand. Happy are the
Hindns of Barhampove who narrowly escaped being put on a level
with the Hindus «f these Dominion! They really need to be
congratulated on their rare good fortune. You will remember
that sometime ago the Bombay Government deputed Mr. Sileox,
B. C. 8., aud the Nizam’s Government Rai Murlidhar to settle
the boundary limits of their respective territories. This settle-
ment necessitated the Hyderabad Government’s giving away
'a..numli'er of villages in return for others; but it was secreily
hioted to Rai Murlidhar by some of the party in power that he
should try and get from the Bombay Government the town of
Barhampore, in Central India—containing the tombs of Sie
Asmanja’s ancestors—instead of these villages. Rai Murlidhar
for some reason or other did not take the hint. And for this

I am informed. it was proposed to deprive him of his office of
First Talugdar at Aurungabad and to appoint him to an inferior

post. Rai Murlidbar heard of the intention of the Government
and sent in his resignation. But—somehow-—tho resignation
was not accepted and Rai Murlidhar’s degradation was never
more thought of. Your readers can understand now what a fate
threateued Barhampore not long ago.

I might be permitted to put the Nawab Intesar Jung Ba-
hadur—1I beg his pardon, I mean the Nawab Vicar-ul-Doulah
Vicar-ul-mulk that he was exalted into at His Highness’s birth-
day Durbar on Tuesday last—a question. When the news of
the Nawab Fateh Nawaz Jung’s having been called to the Bar
(without his putting in the full number of terms) reached Hy-
derabad many were glad and one in patticular, viz, Mushtak
Hussain, then the Nawab Intesar Jung and now the Nawab
Vicar-ul-Dowlah Vicar-ul-mulk, And he gave expression to
his gladness in a remarkable manner. He issued a circular
that every one of those that wished to congratulate the Nawab
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on his'snoossa by wirs might send him money enough to

the cost of & telegram to Vngland. And lots of money ponred:
in from the reveuue officials in the Districts. Was Mushtall:
Hussain justified in issaing this ci rcular—‘e-]arivﬂté though Aﬁyﬁ,ﬁ

—knowing that coming from him, the Revenune Secretary, it
wonld be regarded ag a command by all his subordinates . How.
might n Taluqdhar have heen dealt with for doing a “similar

thing ?

 His Highness’s Birthday Durbar came off on the evening
of Tuesday last. Forty one people were decorated with titles—
but few of these, it might be remarked withoat the least fear of
contrrdiction, ‘waded’ throngh meritorious services to honors.
Probably, just as man does not live by bread alone, man does
not aitain to honors by service alone! The titles, under the -
inspiration or at the request of scme are 8o indiscrimicately
bestowed that it may well be feared that the day is not far off
when respectable men will refuse to be “decorated ”’ and regard
these titles, like those in the reign of the last king of Lincknow
as anything but badges of honor.

I learn that Mr, Norton, of the Madras bar, has made a
strong representation to tlie Government pointing out the neces.
sity for removing Afzul Husain from the Commission appointed
to try the Nawab Hassan-Bin-Abdulla and others. The repre«
sentation is not likely to have any effect. I have been putin
possession of some facts giving an insight into the wire-pulling
of the “anthors’ of the treasury frauds cases; but I shall not
communicate them to you until I have got them verified,
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_Of all the letters, paragraphs and articles that have appeared
menﬂy in the Jocal papers abont the Hyderabad letters in tlie
“ Hmdu tllele is one letter that deserves notice, and it is from
the pen of Mr. P, 8t L. Connor, who was Agent, Manager
‘an_d Editor of the ¢ Hyderabad Remld ” since the death of the
late lamented Mr. Job Solomon, and manager since the establish-
‘ment of the “ Record” press and paper.” Mr. Counor has
written to the papers to contradict a statement I made in my
letter of the 29th ultimo about a thireat having been held out to
the “Lecord’s” former proprietors to withhold all Government
patronage in the shape of job-work, etc—in the interests of
truth and justice forsooth. ¢ Never was any such thrent held
out ” writes he “ nor was even any kind of hint which the most
extravagant imagination could have construed into a threat ever
received.” If so, Mr. Connor onght to be able to tell us how
it was that most of the Government offices here stopped giving
the “Record” Press any job-work just before Mr. Solomon’s
denth—how it was that while the Govermment budget for 1299
¥, was printed at the “ Record” Press, that for 1300 ¥, was
printed elsewhere. Is it not a fact that but fer its having
changed bands, the ‘Record ” Dress would still have been
outside the pale of Government puatronage ?

The murder that 1 gave a short account of in my last letter
is creating u good deal of sensation iu some circles here. The
Chudderghbat Christians seem to be almost unanimous in think-
ing that the deceased tell a prey to Moslem bigotry ; while
some people ascribe the murder to jealousy on the part of the
dead woman’s lovers. Be the motive for the crime what it may,
the criminals need to bLe made examples of. The Rev. Mr.
Gilder, of the Chaddarghat Methodist Episcopal Church, whose
munshi the murdered wowaw’s husband has been for some time,
is moving Heaven and Earth to get the murderers tried by the
Residency authorities. That Mr, Gilder’s effort will bear no
fruit, that the Residency peuple will refuse tu buve any thing to
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do with 2 murder which was committed within the Moglai-jurisdic
tion—one does not need to be told. But then, if the Reverend
gentleman’s anxiety to get the case out of the hands of the -
HOglai Judge serves to show what little confidence the public
bave in justice as it is adwinistered by the Moglai Courts, 1t
w:ll be regrettable indeod.

Information reaches me that an order has been recently.
,passed by the Government to vhe effect that those that are in
eustody in connection with the Treasury frands cases shall have
to pay the rents of the houses they arc lodged in as well s the
salarics of the peons that keep guard over them. Have yon
heard of any thivg, Mr. Editor, better indicative of the utter
disregard of the rights of under-trisl men than this curious
order ?

Census work has been taken in hand here in right earnest.
Mr. Bains, C. S., Census Commissicner for India, who paid &
visit to this place lately with a view to inspect Census operations
here, commeuded the management of the Assistant Engiueer of
the Chadargbat Municipality, Mr. Samuel Cornelius, lv the
notice of the authorities concerned, and is reported to have made
some suggestions as to the numbering of houses in the city. In
this connection I might mention a circular issued to the District
Officials by His Excellency Sir Asmanjah some time since. This
order commands Subhas or Talugdhars to confiscate the Jughcers
of such of the Jagheerdars in His Highness’s dominions ae
fail to make arrangements for taking census in their respectwe
territories, and not to restore them until further orders from the
Government. Can :00lum go further?

The “ Deccan Punch ”—a local Urdu weekly—of the 8rd
Tustant, has a most libellous attack on the Raja Murli Manohat
‘Bahadur. The *Punch” falls foul of the Raja because he is
President of the Chadarghat “Hindu Social Club”’—and the
“Bocial Club,” as you know, memorialised the Nizam’s Govern-
ment the other day about the scholarship questiom, ““dt
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must be observed,” says the sage of the ¢“Punch”
“that is Raja  Murli Manohur’s, that {he present Gov-
ernment wants that there should be good management in
the Malwala Daftar, and that Raja Murli Manohur is a
member of the Malwala Daftar.” A more malicious and mis-
chievous paragraph than this 1 have not come across, Every
mau  with a modicumr of commonsense must admit that the
“Hindu Social Club’ is no more Raja Murli Manohur’s than it
is the Vice-President’s or the Secretury’s or any member’s. As
President of the Club, the Raja can only advise the members on
the matters that come up occasionally before him—Dle can
peither do anything agaiust the wishes of the wmajority, nor can
he turn and twist them about as he hkes. With regard to the
scholarship question itself : Iknow it for a fact that when one
or two of the members spoke to the Raja about memorializing
the Governmeut, he told them that he was sure the Government
would throw the scholarship open to Hindus as well as to other
sections of the community. ’}'he members memorialized in spite
of his telling so. And if he 'H.Flpm‘posely absented hiwmself” from
the meeting convened to dr:i,v up a memorial, as we are given
to understand by [’unch, did he not thereby make it clear
that he did not wish to join in the cry of “injustice doue to
Hindus 7’ As for the Raja Murli Manohur’s swishing that there
should not be good management in the Maliwala Daftur of which
he is n member ; be is admitted on all lands to be one of the
most intelligent and energetic men we lhave in Ilyderabad. It
can be no more said of him that he does not want the manage-
ment to be ‘guud’ than it can be said of a strong robust man
that he is afraid to have a tussel with a weakling. And to
state that from interested wmotives the Raja wants to diseredit
the present G overnmmnent—is to invent an untrath with a view to
make him obnoxious to the party in power.

The Birth-day Durbar has come aud gone, and the Raja
Kishen Persad finds hiwmself none the better for it, The Raja
who is the liviog representative of a family but for which Hy-

6
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derabad would long since . have gone out of the hands of the
Nizam, is as far away as ever from getting the Khilet 6f the
office of Peishkar. Woare every now and then told in “bigh
falutin’ that the Peishkarship has long been a sinecure. If Peish-
karship has been a sinecure, so have many offices in the State
been. But there is a good reason keeping it up while the keep-
ing up of other offices has or can have no justification.. And
that is, that the claimant to it is the lincal descendant of one.—
the late Raja Chanda Lal—to whom the Nizam ought to feel
ever thankful. Those that are bent upon or are responsible for
“reducing” the Peishkar family may be said to have plied the
pruning shears desivably by a handful of interested men. But
they will ever be lovked upon by a vast majority of the popula-
tion of these Dominions us the aliens who ruined the ancient
fumilics of the land with a view to enrich themselves, to fatten
their own “calves.”

Sometime ago a notice was published in the Jareeda—tho
vGovernment Gazetto—that such of the Government officials as
were desirous of guing to Englm):l for purposcs of oducation
would be puid by the Government n amoant enough 10 cover
their expeuses in England. Securing the stipend promised in
this notice Mr, Syed Malunud, a Deputy Inam Commissioner,
proceeded to ngland some months ago. The next applicavt for
thie privilege was a Hindu servant of the Government ; bue the
powers-that-be huve written to him to say that the Government
had made up its miud to send no more officials to England for
purposes of education. The reply is characteristic and proclaims
the smpartiality of the present Government, to be sare.

We are once more threatened with a “deluge’” of libel
suits. Judgment baving been delivered in Gribble vs, Galla-
gher, on Weduesday last, Mr. Gullagher’s counter-churge against
Mr, Gribble comes on for hearing about thie middle of January
next. After that perhaps, Mr. Rudra will carry ovt lis threat
to take up Mr. Gullagher for “libel.” Mr. Rudra threatens in a
recent letter to the *I’ioneer” “to have him” for all the caustic
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paragraphs Mr. Gallagher has put in the “Standard.” Not a
whit"daunted by this Mr. G. repeats that the statement, the
contradiction to which made Mr. R so irate, “is perfectly untrue”
—and says that Mr. R libels him in the letter as much ashe
(Mr, G) might be considered fo have libelled Mr., Rudra in his
paragraphs,

People at a distance can little understand how very
indifferent the Government is as to show and where the money
got out of the rayyat goes. A gentleman, a John Bull mind,
came lere about two years ago, armed with introductions no
doubt, to raise subseriptious in aid of a school he meant to start
somewhere in Switzerlund for the benefit of the uncared-for
Indian youths. He wentabout duly hal in hand. The Nizam’s
Government with its usnal liberality and magnanimity paid him
out of the Treasury 2,000 Halli Sicea Rupees to enable him to
accomplish his object, and some noblemen helped him, Iam
told, to some extent. The “projector” was not satisfied with
the money he got from the Government, so he applied for
I.‘Pmora, and got “in reply,” I am informed, two first class railway

‘fares to Bombay. That was no doubta polite way of asking
him to take himself off. But he took no notice of it, went abount
casting for an employment, and gctting it, has been here since.
‘What has become of the two thousand rupees paid out of the
treasury, there is none so poor as to ask. It does not matfor
how the subsecriptions, if any, got from the nobility have been
spent, for it is a well-known fact that the Hyderabad noblemen
have more money than they know what to do with, and thoy
might as well pay towards meeting the daily neccssaries of a
Sahib.

The “Hyderabad Record” is bothered about knowing “what
the local correspondent to the Hindu gains by spreading such
rumours which (sic) are not only false bunt pure inventions and
positively wischievous.” The “Reecord’s” solicitude in behalf
of the present Government is increasing in volume day by day
most amazingly. Under the circumstances it is not difficult to



44

understand the complacency with which he announces, what
must be news to all except himself, ‘“that every statement dn his
(the “ Hindu" corvespondent’s) sensational letter has been
publicly contradicted,” As fur as I know—and I have been a
reggular and careful reader of the local papers—only "3 or 4 of
my statements and these the least important ones have been
contradicted in the most shaky way. But what have “they” to
say about my statement anent the Anagondi case, the puppet
minister and the minister de fucto, the Nawab Mushtak Husain’s
application for retirement, the significant omissions in connec-
tion with the Treasury frauds cases, the Revenue Sceretary’s
‘sympathy’ with the rayayatet hoc genus omne? FEcho answers,
“What have they ?”
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The law that renders murder a bailable as well as compound-
able ¢ offence,” and thus provides for a murderer’s escape or
pluces society at his mercy though for a while—is worthy only
of the rulers of the Darkest Africa. Yet that is the law in vogue
here where Mulls and Dowlalks lay claim to the susceptibilities
and sentiments of the enlightenel European, and big officials
talk glibly and write in grandiloquent straius of the glories of
enlightenment and civilization. And administered as it is by
Judges who do do vot even care to ivcueer over their partizan
spirit, it becomes tantamount to an enactment to secure the
safety of the person of a murderer. Where have you ever heard
of a Judge, a Judge in his seuses, enlarging a man accused of
forgery on bail for one lakh ofrupees and one uccused of murder on
bail for five thousand rupecs? Yet that is what has been done
within the lust few mouths by a Daniel of our City High Court
The Judge who released Abdul Wahid, chief of the accused in the
murder case I referred to in former letters, on bail for a some-—
one twentieth of that demanded in the case of Balakrishen Doss
charged with forgery—would seem to hold it justice still. This
is only by the way. The murder case came up for hearing
before Mr. I{afiz Ahmed Raza Khan, Puisne Judge of the City
High Court, last Tuesday.” After taking all the evidence for the
prosecution and hearing the confession of Abdul Rahmun, Abdul
Wahid’s servant, read out, the Judge miriable dictu ordered for
Wahid’s being let out on bail for five thousand rupees. And
when asked by the public prosecutor to reconsider his order,
when it was pointed out to him that the bail demanded was out
of all proportion to the gravity of the crime Wahid stood charged
‘witli, he indignantly replied, “ he was not going to be taught
his duty by the prosecutor.”” And it was as Judge doing his
duty surcly that he. on Tuesday last questioned a representative
of the Press in‘Court as to his * authority >’ aud looked non-
plussed when asked whether he expected him—the representative
—to carry his anthority about his person wherever,he went.
Verily, verily, we living in this  God-governed country,” are
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fast coming to the days when justice will have fled to brutish
beasts and Judges will have lost their reacou, i

The  Hyderabad Record” has an unusually trenchant
article on this suhject in his issue of the 24th Instant. 'I'he note
of alarm he strikes in behalf of His Highness’ subjects, “any
one of whom may at some time or other have occasion to become
a suitor for justice” in a case like the present one—has no
uncertain ring about it And it is to be fervently hoped that it
will “ecatch” the cars of His Highness the Nizam and the
Resident who represents Her Most Gracious Majesty the Queen
Empress, the very impersonation of justice, at his Court. The
““ Record "’ expresses a hope that the blood-stained garments and
letters found in the accused’s house will “ not share the fate of
the bond in the “ Forgery crse ”’ which so mysteriously disap-
peared from the strong room, of the Court Registrar, a circum-
stance into which the polico were prevented from making any
investigation "—and is of opinion that “as matters stond at
present, given a plastic Judge and an influential or wealthy
criminal the administration of justice is not only a “toss np ” as
was lately stated in open Court by a well-known Barrister, for
in every ‘ toss-up”’ there is at least an element of chance, but a
foregone conclasion. ”

I have been put in possession of a copy of the proceedings
of the first of the Treasury frauds cascs. A perusal of this must
bring home to every one’s mind the truth of every one of the
statements made in my leiter on the Hyderabad Treasury
frauds. The order passed by the then Accountant-General, the
Nawab Mukharrub Jung Bahaduor, on the memo, submitted by
Mr. Gya Pershad, rans thus:—“The auditing of the cheques,
and the sole responsibility thereof relates to the audit (Branch)
of the City, and the signature of the Neputy Accountant General
should be made, after the Auditor has made his, for the sake
of passing the clieques.”

And the office order-book confirms it in these terms :—
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“All cheques shall be prepared after auditing, on the sole

responsibility of the City Branch, and they shall be passed after
the signature of the Deputy Accountant-General.”

In the face of this fact, Mr. Afzul Husain said in his judg-
ment that the memo, had not been confirmed by the Nawab
Mukhurrub Jung. In the latter part of the same judgment,
Afzul Husain remarked : “He (Syed Ahmed one of the accused
in the ease) is not notorious like Jaya Rao for his misdemeanour”
There was_ not a tittle of evidence before the Court to show
that Jaya Rao was ‘notorious.”” When the pleader for the
defence put Mr. Gya Persad, one of the wilnesses, a question
about Jaya Rao’s behaviour as a subordinate, Mr. Afzul Husain
himself disallowed it on the ground that the Government had
no evidence to adduce against Jaya Rao’s “general conduct.”
Yet we have this condemnation in the judgment. Then again,
Syed Ahmed was let off becanse he had proved he had not par-
ticipated in the wmoney got by means of the fictitious cheques
bearing his signature, and Jaya Rao was convieted because he
had failed to show he had nut received any portion of the money
obtained by fraudulent means. The burden of proof, according
to Afzul Husain, does not lic on the prosecution. Who has
ever beard of the prosecution being allowed to restrict itself to
formulating charges and the accused being compelled to prove
the charges brought against them to be unfounded ? DBut who
is to judge of our Moglai Judges ? They are privileged persons
and their ways are not dreamt of in any philosophy in “the
heavens above, the earth below, or the waters underneath.”

You have, I believe, formed a clear idea of Afzul Husain’s
and Hafiz Almed Razakhan’s “justice.” I shall now illustrate
briefly the method of administering justice which finds favour
with two more Judges of the High Cowrt, viz,, Ali Raza Khan
and Ekbal Ali. A police Amcen and a police Jamadar were
once convicted of corruption by the then First L'alngdhar of the
“Parbhani District aud committed to the sessions, The sessions
Judge let off one by reason of his respectubility, and punished
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the other. This was Ekbal Ali. Once about a dozen people
stood charged with murder .before a Judge of the same District.
The Judge sentenced one of them to ten years’ rigorous impri-
gonment on the strength of the evidence of two men who conld
depose to nothing beyond seeing hun inside the house where
murder had been committed at the time of murder. And this
was Ali Raza Khan. You can well undorsiand now, Mr, Kditor,
what a mockery justice often becownes, admivistered asit is by
such men,

You will remember that in two of my letters I spoke of how
the Nawal Mushtak Husain, Vicar-ul-Mulk, the Revenne Secro-
tary, had ignored the most motorious facts furnished him re-
garding the administration of the Parbhani District. Now I
learn from the columns of the Government organ—the *Deccan
Standard”—that the First Talugdbar of the Parbhauni District
the official responsible for the administration of it, has been
suspended “recently’’ on account of charges of corruption
Brought. agaiust him, . It would be interesting to know Lo what
recent date the word recently refers. Bosides this, there are
some questions which need to be answered and could be answer-
ed only by those behind the scenes. The first official report of

the Taluqdhar’s crooked ways reached the Revonue Secretary,
I am informed, about four years ago. What las the Revenue
Secretary been doing these four years? Has it taken him four
years to find out the desirability of suspeuding the offending
official? Or has he been mum until he could no longer be so?
Why did the Nawab Mushtak Husain oppose the appointment
of the man, now under suspension, to the first Taluldharship of
Nalgonda in the Eastern division while Subbadar thercof 2 And
was it not through the Nawab’s instrumentality that he received
an order of transfer to Parbhani, an out-of-the-way place, even
before he could join his appointment at Nalgonda? Will any
one come forward to answer these questions P



49 |
HyprraBAD, 3rd January, 1891.

The procedure adopted by Mr, Hafiz Ahmed Raza Khan
in the trial of the murder case way well make the civilized
world “ gasp and stare,” und set the peace-loving ILlydrabadee
thivking as to whether Lis life aud property are safo within the
Moglai limits even in this century and within sight of the British
flag. A man may lay himself open to the charge of having
committed any mortal offence, may even commit murder, secure
from the terrors of justice—provided he be influential. Or rather,
as a gentleman put it the other day:—Of what use is a man’s
respectability in Hyderabad if he cannot set law at defianco with
impunity ?”  This is perhaps haed judging, but it is warranted
by the information that comes to me {rom a trustworthy quarter
about the City murder case. Hafiz Ahmed Raza Khan has
“made out’’ an order for the release of two of the accused, viz.,
Abdul Wahid the pleader, and Wazeeran, the decoy; and the
order will be enforeed when the ease comes up for hearing next,
t. ¢., on Saturday, the 10th instant. And his reasons are many
forsooth. The jatka in which the murdered woman was taken
into the city having stopped some way from the scenc of murder
it could not be presumed from the driver’s evidence iliat Ahdul
Wahid accompanicd the deceased thercto, One of the two
letters found in Abdool 1Tusain’s house goes to show that for
sometime before the murder Abdul Wahid and Abdool Iiusain
were not on good terms; and so Abdool Husuin’s statements
could mot with reason be made to incriminate Abdul Wahid.
Abdul Rahman, Abdul Wahid's servant, bring an accomplice
could not be expccted to speak tho truth about his master, And
the evidence of the murdered woman’s daughter is worth nothing
as she might have been “ tutored ”’ into giving it by the Police,
So our City Judyze disposes of such evidence as he carved to take
notice of against Abdul Wahid, and orders his release. Besides,
he is of opinion that the Police trumped up this case against the
brother of the Crown Prosecutor in the I'reasury I'rauds Cases
to please some friends, and recommends the dismissal of the

7
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Police Prosecutor. All this is no do doubt demanded by
prudential considerations. But then whether it is reason or
Justice the people are free to ask. In one of the two letters before
the Court, there is a threat, I am credibly informed, on the part
of Abdul Wahid to lay a trap, for Abdool Husain and the
murdered- woman, Why was this slurred over?. Why was it
that the clothes said to be blood-stained were not submitted to
a chemical examination? Why was not the Police Vakeel
permitted to put in ‘more evidence’? Why was the Police
Commissioner hurried ou to bring up the case before the court ?
Why was it that within three days two Roobkars were issued to
him to bring up the case “at once”? And how is this hurry to be
reconciled to the delay caused by the granting of loug adjourn-
ments 7 These are some of the many questions that suggest
themselves to all unprejudiced men who cannot bring themselves
to believe in the innocence of the man who had the bareficedness
to tell the Nawab Akbar Jung Bahadur in the presence of Messrs,
Aiengar, Gilder and Fox; “write {to the Judge a Roobkar
and securc from him my parden, and I shall make a clean breast
of the whole affair.” The Police and their, Vukeel have, it is
admitted on all hands, done all that they ought to have. TFor
this the Police head is in for an unwarranted and damaging
imputation and the Police Vakeel has deserved dismissal. This
is how the ends of justice ave accomplished here.

I hear that Bishop Thoburn has written to the Rev. Mr,
Gilder, of the Chadarghat Methodist Episcopal Church, to ask
him not to identify himself in any way with the prosecutlon n
the murder case. I hope_ this is not true. If true, thero is
little chanco of all the murderers getting their due. Being left
without funds Sadullab, the husband of the murdered woman,
will not be able to appeal against Ahmed Raza Khan’s decision
or do anything by way of getting justice meted out to the
criminals. And the impression that justice is a costly commodity
and the poor cannot get it, will find another confirmation
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I have so often referred in these columns to the way in
which those obnoxious tothe party in power are sent to jail
or degraded or dismissed or otherwise punished, that I feel I
should not ask you, for some time to come at least, for space for
farther information on the head. Yet I cannot see my way out
of mentioning a fact that was pointed ouf to me the other day
in re the Treasury Frauds Cases. Jaya Rao is in prison now for
countersigning 14 fictitions cheques, while the man whose duty
it was to sign cheques after looking into them carefully and who
signed these 14 cheques in the first instance is to be promoted.
How would you characterise such justice Mr. Editor ?

The local - “Hindu Social Club”” seem to be a little bit put
out by a paragraph in one of my letters, with regard to the
“Deccan Puncl’s” attack on the Raja Murli Manohur Bahadur.
They think, I am told, that I have “compromised” the “Club”
by my remarks in this connection. I mentioned what 1 knew
for a fact, and what I said but tended to show that personally
tbe Raja had no grievance to air forth agaiust the Government
and no reason to join the ery of “injustice to the Hindus.”
How this could be compromising, I am at a loss to understand.
We do not guage the condition of a people from the condition
of one individual ; nor can we judge of the trentment accorded
to a class from that given to one of its members, This being so,
how cant any man think that because the Raja Murli Munohur
has personally no grievances against the Government, therefore
the whole Hindu community has no grievances against it ?

A recent issue of the “Deccan Punch” has a significant
cartoon on the subject of the murder case. It represents Hafiz
Ahmed Raza Khan as putting in one pan of the scale of justice
a weight too small to balance the other pan with “the box of
crime” in it, and Mr. Punch addrsssing the Judge thus: “Put in
more weight, Sir.” )

You will be glad to hear that in the Rev. Mr. Gilder of the
Chadarghat Methodist Episcopal Church we have got a well-
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wisher of the Indian National Congress movement. Allnding
to the * Pioneer’s” article on ““ Migsionaries and Polities.”” he
writes thus to me :—

“With rvoference to “Missionaries and Polities” 1 believe
every Christian Missionary in India ought to be in the vanguard
in all things relating to the social or politico-social as well as
moral advancement of the people. 'I'here are politics and
politics ; and inasmuch asin many of the political reforms
called for to-day, there are bound up many aud weighty social
probléms which demand a satisfactory solution in the iuterests
of the people of India and which when solved will expedite poli-
tical reforms, I am of opinion that Missionaries are not guilty
of meddling in matters beyond their roncern when they extend
practical sympathy to the National Uongress, My own sympa-
thies are very largely with the Congress.”’

The statement that is going the rounds of the Indian
Press that the Nawab TFranmuz Jung Bahadur is the first Parsi
Nawab is not correct. Hiderabad has had two Parsi Nawahs,
viz., Nadir Jung and Rustam Jung before Framjee’s timo. As
for the third Nawab himsclf, though it is whispered iun certain
circles that he got his title throngh some back-door influence
yet it is admitted that he had betler claiins to it than any other
Parsi in the State.

The “interesting information” furnished by the “Stafford-
shire Chronicle” about “the Mahomedan rule of Hyderabad-
Decean,” to which reference is made by your Londou corres-
pondont in his letter of the 12th nltimo, i3 news to us onc and
ali. Would that our young ruler were putin the way of
evincing so much interest in the welfare of his subjects as to
confer “the franchise on certain clusses!’”” Then, knee-
crooking would not do duty for efficioncy and criminality would-
not be allowed to go unpunislied becauso of influence acquired
by hook or crook.



58
HyperamAD, 10th ;Tanuary, 1891,

Mr. Syed Ahmed Raza Khan has proved himself a good
hand at special pleading. His order for the discharge of two
of the accused in the Uity murder case has been published in the
local papers since my last writing to you, And those incredul-
ous people who might not have beheved the information I
placed bef.re vour readers about the murder case, could see for
themsslves now that I did not invent things to cause “mischief.”
As for the order itself, any one with a modicum of common
sense could read between the lines of it a desperate attempt to
exculpate Abdul W#hid fully. When the man who had driven
the murdered woman to the scene of murder—or rather to with-
in a short distance of it, confessed in court to being able to
identify the man that had accompanied the jutia, Ahmed Raza
Kbhan bade the Nazir of the Court and two chaprasees to take
him through the streets of the City and ask him to point ont
every onc of those he had ever driven in his jutka. This decla-
res the spirit in which the trial, so far as Abdul Wahid was
concerned, was conducted—and this is the spirit which charac-
terises the order. 1f there were little evidence to incriminate
Abdul Wahid, thore was less against Wazeeran the decoy. Yet
Abdnl Wahid has been at large on bail for several days now,
while Wazeeran is still in police enstody. ITow is this to be
aceounted for ? No application was ever made in Court for
Abdul Wahid’s being admitted to bail, and unless we beliove
a statement made by a local paper that Abdal Kader, Wahid’s
brother, had had a private interview with the Judge just before
the proceedings of the case began and had not only applied but
arranced for his being released on bail, no application was
rever malde even outof Court. If Wahid could be let off on
bail in the absence of an application put in for it, why was
not Wazeeran dealt with simisrly? Referring to the evidence
given by the murdered woman’s daughter, Ahmed Raza Khan
says that those (mearing the police,) who are adepts at tutoring
grown-up people could easily geta little girl say what they
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want. _This suggestion, 80 to say, in the face of the well-known
fact that it is not so easy to tutor little children as to instruch
grown-up people so that they may not contradict themselves in
‘their evidence—proclaims the determination to see n loophole
even where there is none for the accused to escape by. It is
said that the stains on the clothes held to be 'blood-siained by
the prosecution might have been due to mosquito and bug blood
and that there are hundreds of such clothes to be found in Hy-
derabad! Why were not some of these ‘“hundreds” obtained
and compared with the clothes said to be blood-stanied ? Seeing
that the stains on one of the sherwani sleeves resembled the
converse of the Arabic figure 7000, the Judge concluded that
they were due to red ink. Was it ascertained in Court whether
Wahid knew Arabic figures and - whether he had been in the
babit of nsing them ? And was it asked what the occasion for
the writing of 7000 had been ? No—and why not? A Judge
who could go out of his way to cross-question in behalf of the
accused might have very well enlightened himself on these
points. This coupled with the fact that the clothes were not
submitted to a chemical examination, tells its own tale. Then
we are told in the order that one of the letters found by the
Police in Abool Husain’s house speaks of Mumthia: and not of
Imthiaz, tho name of the murdered woman, and consequently
there is nothing to show that Wahid and Abool Hussain had
fallen out on aceount of the deceased. If Wahid Ali in whose
name the box holding the corpse of the murdered woman was
consigned at the Hyderabad Railway station proved to be Abdul
Wahid, is it difficult to believe, I ask, taking all the circumstan-
ces into consideration, that Imthiaz and Mumthiaz were one
and the same ?

Ahmed Raza Khan in a long preamble to the order, above
referred to, holds up the procedure in vogue here, which admits
an accused person to bail pending the confirmation by a Division-
al Bench of the High Court of the order for discharge made
out by the Judge in the first instance—for the information of the
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Bupreme Government. It is bad enongh to have eyes and yeb
not tosee. But it is worse to-be blind or to blind oneself and
expect overy one elseto be in the same miserable plight. If
the accused is innocent as made out to be by the Judge in the
first instance, then he need not fear the decision of the Divi-
sional Bench and abscond. But if ho is gnilty and has reasons
to fear that what was slurred over by the Judge might be faken
notice of by the Divisional Bench and used against him, what
guarantee is there that he will not abscond and thus cheat justice
with a sop to Cerberus ?

The collapse of the second of the Treasury Frauds cases
has been announced. Mr. Badrudeen Tyabji is reported to have
written to the Government to say there was no case against the
accuged in the case, and cousequenily those in costody in con-
nection with it have been released. Patent as it has been to
many men here, Afzul Husain could not or did not choose to
see “there was no case’”” when e committed “the grave crror’
of summoning the Nawab Imad Nawaz Jung and the Raja
Srinivas Rao as being among the accused. Will the Govern-
ment or rather the party in power notice this? If it be true
that they are “innocent” of all connection with the prosecution
in the case, they ought to talke notice of this, and teach a lesson
to the man who could wantonly hicap indignities on Ligh officials
in the State. Just think ofa man being hanled up before a
Crurt or taken into custody ou the strength of mere suspicion
of his official conduct! Think of the first Treasury Frauds
case in which people were sent to jail on the flimsiest grounds,
and a man figured asan accused by reason of his having had a
seat in the Accountant General’s Office within sight of that of
the man who forged signatures and you have an idea of the
pass we have come to in Hyderabad, in the premier ‘Native

State in India!

Information comes to me of the issue of {wo incorrect
cheques by the Officiating Accountaut General within the last

‘fow days, Ali Abdullab, in charge of His Highness’s Studs’
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Department, goes every year to Malagam fair witha view to
buy borses for His Highness’s stables. As usual he wanted
Rs, 15,000 for the purpose this year, The Nawab Viear-ul-
mnlk, the Revenue Secretary—who evidently holds & carte
blanche from H. E. the Minister to arrogate to himself the
functions of any office in the State—issned, in defiance of all
rules andlregulations, instruction to the Talugdhar of the District
in which Malagam lies to supply Mr. Ali Abdullah with funds
to the extent of Rs. 15,000 and forwarded a copy of the same to
the Accountant General to apprise him of it. 'The Accountant
General, the clever official and loyal henchman that heis, cared
not to read through the copy and understand it, but issued two
cheques to the value of Rs. 15,000 to the Revenue Secrelariat.
This gives you, Mr. Editor, au idea of the quality of the work
turved out by many if not most highly paid servants of His
‘Highness.’

Subscriptions in aid of the movement to spread Mshome-
danism in England are coming in apace. The Nawab Vicar-ul-
Umrah has given Rs. 5,000, the Nawab Vicar-ul-Mulk Its. 1,000
—and the amount already collected is likely to .amount to a
big sum very soon. A portion of the sum raised will be spent,
1 am informed, in sending some Mahomedans to England to
preach the Koran—and Moulvie Hassin Ali of whom you have
all heard so much will not be the least of them. An attcmpt to
convert the followers of the meek Christ to the ‘licligion af the
sword’ at the fag end of the Nineteenth Century savours rather
of the ridiculous,

We shall soom have a Unani Dispensary under the manage-
ment of Hakeemn Syed Almed who “chopped lvgic” nob long
since with Dr. Laurie onthe subject of Chloroform. The
Nizam’s Government bas, it is stated, sanctioned a monthly
grant of Rs. 2,000 for the establishment in connection with it.
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Hyperasap, [7th January, 1891.

The begioning of the end of the case against the Nawab
Imad Nawaz Jung and the Raja Srinivas Rao has been heralded
by the announcement that the Government will inquire into
it departmentally. And now it may not bo amiss to place before
your readers the denouement of the “plot” of the caso. The
character who is the first to appear on the stage, is a gentleman
by name Munover Khan. His swagger bespeaks his influence;
and his being officiating Acconutant-General without knowing
any more of accounts thian L or you know of navigation, shows
he is in luck’s way. He advances to the individual yeclept Gov-
ernment, and states with low bow that he has discovered some
frauds in his office in which such men as Hassan Bin Abdulla
and Srinivas Rao are concerned. The Government is all joy.
It summons all its “faithfuls” to a solemn conclave and assured
of the political cnemies’ guilt, settles to appoint Fkbal Ali in
place of Hassan Bin Abdulla and Mahomed Ali to fill the vacancy
created by the dismissal of Srinivasa Rao—and (if a rumour is
to be believed) does not forget to send word to Mr. Fred.
Gordon to keep three rooms ready for the reception of the
enemies in Chenchulgooda jail, This closes the first act. Then
Justice Afzul Husain appears dressed in authority and issues
summons calling upon the Nawab Imad Nawaz Jung (as well as

others) to appear before him within 18 hours of its being served
to answer such a serious charge ns abetment of forgery and
criminal misappropriation. The Nawab applies to the Ministor
for the postponement of the frial. And the Minister accedes to
the Nawab’s request and appoints a Commission of two®of the
Judges of the High Court, presided over hy Afzul Husain, to try
him and others concerned in the case. Shortly after this ho is
asked by the Government to submit an explanation depart-
mentally. The explanation furnished being considered unsatis-
factory, the Commission is asked to begin bhusiness. Then
comes the appeintment of Mr. Budrudin Tyabjee of the Bombay
Bar as Government Prosecutor. Whether it is truo or not that
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